2016

The State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Saul Martinez, Defendant/ Appellant : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

INTRODUCTION

On July 8, 2015, a shooter rapidly fired three rounds that struck a vehicle occupied by the alleged victim, Rafael, and an off-duty police sergeant. Based on this shooting, Martinez was convicted of attempted murder, aggravated assault, possession of a firearm by a restricted person, and three counts of felony discharge of a firearm.¹

Martinez raises two issues on appeal. First, the trial court committed reversible error when it allowed Rafael to testify that “all the people from Tooele, [] were telling [him] that [Martinez] was looking for [him] ... to kill [him].” Admission of the Tooele residents’ statements violated the rule against hearsay and prejudiced Martinez. Thus, Martinez is entitled to a new trial on all counts.

Second, Martinez’s convictions for discharge of a firearm merge with attempted murder. Specifically, merger is required under subsection 76-1-

¹ The Sentence, Judgment Commitment is attached at Addendum A.

402(1)'s single criminal episode doctrine; under subsection 76-1-402(3) because the offenses share a lesser-greater relationship; and under the doctrine of common law merger. Accordingly, Martinez asks this Court to vacate his discharge convictions.

ISSUES, STANDARDS OF REVIEW, PRESERVATION

Issue I: Whether this Court should grant Martinez a new trial where the trial court admitted prejudicial, out-of-court statements made by unidentified Tooele residents in violation of the rule against hearsay.

Standard/Preservation: Whether a statement is hearsay that is “offered for the truth of the matter asserted is a question of law,” which is reviewed for correctness. *State v. Haltom*, 2005 UT App 348, ¶8, 121 P.3d 42. This issue was preserved. R.709 (hearsay objection and trial court’s ruling).

Issue II: Whether Martinez’s convictions for discharge of a firearm should be vacated.

Standard/Preservation: “Because merger questions are legal in nature, this Court] review[s] them for correctness. *State v. Lee*, 2006 UT 5, ¶26, 128 P.3d 1179. This issue is preserved. *See* R.997-1009 (oral motion to merge at the close of the State’s case); R.336-46 (defense’s motion to vacate); R.349-54 (State’s response motion); R.1187-1210 (argument on motion to vacate); R.1210-12 (trial court’s ruling); *see also State v. Lopez*, 2004 UT App 410, ¶9, 103 P.3d 153 (“the defense can object that charges merge ‘at any time, either during trial, or following the conviction on a motion to vacate’”).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

a. Procedural History

The charges stemmed from a July 8, 2015, shooting where three shots were fired at a vehicle containing two occupants. *See* R.3-4. On July 16, 2015, the State filed an Information charging Martinez with attempted murder, a first degree felony, in violation of Utah Code § 76-5-203; possession of a firearm by a restricted person, a second degree felony, in violation of Utah Code § 76-10-503(2)(a); aggravated assault, a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code § 76-5-103(1); and three counts of felony discharge of a firearm, third degree felonies, in violation of Utah Code § 76-10-508.1. R.1-6. The felony discharge counts were based on each expended bullet. *See id.*; R.1131. Martinez was bound over on all counts. R.35-37, 553-55.

On July 19-21, 2016, the parties convened for a bifurcated three-day trial. R.279-85, 330-32. Pursuant to a pre-trial stipulation, the possession of a firearm by a restricted person count was severed, and Martinez was tried by jury on the remaining counts. R.57. Ultimately, the jury found Martinez guilty on all counts before them. R.333-34, 1154. The trial judge subsequently addressed the severed possession of a firearm count. R.1156-70. The defense stipulated that Martinez was a restricted person, R.1156, 1159, 1166, and, after determining that Martinez possessed a firearm, the trial court found Martinez guilty. R.335, 1165-70.

At the close of the State's case and in a post-verdict motion to vacate, Martinez moved the trial court to merge the felony discharge counts with

attempted murder. R.336-46; *see also* R.997-1009. After briefing and argument on the merger issue, the trial court denied Martinez's motion. R.336-46, 349-54, 1210-12. Martinez was then sentenced as follows: for attempted murder, an indeterminate prison term of 3 years to life; for possession of a firearm, an indeterminate term of 1-15 years; for aggravated assault, an indeterminate term of 0-5 years; and for each count of felony discharge, 3-5 years in prison. R.371-76. The court ordered the attempted murder and aggravated assault counts to run consecutively. *Id.* Moreover, it ordered the felony discharge counts and the possession of a firearm count to run concurrent to each other and concurrent to the term ordered for attempted murder and aggravated assault. *Id.* Martinez timely appealed, R.377-78, and his case was transferred from the Utah Supreme Court to the Utah Court of Appeals. R.387-94.

b. The Evidence

Background. Martinez and Wife shared a 16-year relationship and had a daughter together. R.661, 679-80, 886. But in the spring of 2015 their relationship took a turn for the worst. R.676-77, 683-84. Witnesses testified that Wife began a relationship with the alleged victim, Rafael, who worked alongside Martinez and Wife at a Denny's restaurant in Tooele. R.677-78, 683-84, 689, 704; *but see* R.726-27 (Rafael denying a romantic relationship).

One evening, Wife and Rafael were having dinner at a friend's house when Martinez arrived "upset." R.705-07. According to Rafael, Martinez let himself into the home, held his right-hand fingers in the form of a gun, and pointed them

at Rafael. *Id.* Martinez then left without saying anything. *Id.*

On July 5th, 2015, Martinez stopped at Denny's to look for Wife. R.665-69, 679-80. Wife had "disappeared" and had taken their daughter. R.665-69, 679-80. Rafael, who was working at the time, told one of the waitresses to call the police because Martinez had allegedly threatened to kill Rafael before. R.708.

Rafael made contact with Martinez and asked whether Martinez was looking to kill him. R.709. Rafael testified that he asked this "[b]ecause all the people from Tooele, [] were telling [him] that [Martinez] was looking for [him] ... to kill [him]." R.709. The defense objected to this statement on hearsay grounds. *Id.* The trial court overruled this objection, reasoning that "[i]t's not offered for the truth of the matter asserted." *Id.*; Addendum B (transcript of hearsay objection). Rafael then reiterated that "in Tooele[,] everybody was telling [him] that [Martinez] wanted to kill [him]." *Id.*

According to Rafael, Martinez responded that he was not going to "address[] [Rafael]" now, "but would look for [Rafael] later." R.709-10; *see also* R.668-69 (Restaurant Manager's account of the conversation). A witness to the conversation (the "Restaurant Manager") testified that Rafael taunted Martinez, but Martinez remained calm, and told Rafael that he was only looking for his wife and daughter. R.668-89, 680-81. Restaurant Manager also recorded in her police report that Martinez told Rafael he was not there for Rafael "at th[at] moment, but [he] knew where [Rafael] and [Wife] live[d], and sooner or later, [he] w[ould] kill [Rafael]." R.672-75.

On July 8, 2015, Martinez and an unidentified white male stopped at the home of Wife's brother ("Brother-in-law"). R.684-85, 695-96. Brother-in-law testified that Martinez had been drinking and appeared to be "extremely nervous." R.685. According to Brother-in-law, Martinez expressed that he recently learned that Rafael and Wife were living together. R.685. Martinez purportedly wanted "to say goodbye ... because supposedly [Martinez] already had everything prepared to be able to kill [Rafael] because [Rafael] wasn't going to steal" Wife and Daughter. *Id.*; *see also* R.686 (Brother-in-law further testifying that Martinez said "that he had to end all of this"). Additionally, Brother-in-law testified that during this visit, Martinez showed him a "big," gray or lead-colored gun and "said that that was what he had to do it." R. 686-87. Police reports documenting a subsequent interview with Brother-in-law did not mention that Brother-in-law had seen a gun. R.873-75.

Despite Martinez's comments, Brother-in-law did not believe that Martinez was the type of person to shoot somebody. R.699. Brother-in-law testified that Martinez's "way" was to "play around with people" and Martinez had jokingly talked about killing people before. R.687. Brother-in-law testified that during the July 8th visit, he initially believed that Martinez was joking about killing Rafael. R.699, 701. And in a subsequent interview with police, Brother-in-law indicated that he did not think Martinez's threats were serious. R.875-76. But Brother-in-law testified that he came to believe that Martinez "was serious" about killing Rafael based on Martinez's demeanor. R.687, 699.

The Incident. Around 10:00-10:30 p.m. on July 8th, 2015, Rafael finished work and started driving his Chevrolet truck back to the motel he was staying at. R.710-11. On the way, Rafael ran out of gas and pulled onto the shoulder. R.712-13; State's Exs. 19-22. Rafael then grabbed a gas can and walked in the dark to a gas station that was about a quarter to a half mile away. R.712-13, 723-25, 850, 978-79. At the gas station, an off-duty police sergeant ("Sergeant") was filling up his Toyota Tundra truck. R.744-47. Sergeant saw Rafael and offered him a ride back to his vehicle due to the heavy rain; "it was a downpour." R.715-16, 747, 848. Rafael accepted, put his gas can in the bed of Sergeant's truck, and got into the passenger's seat. R.715-16, 747-48. On the drive back to Rafael's truck, Sergeant briefly noticed what appeared to be a white Jeep Cherokee make a right-hand turn a distance behind them. R.756-57, 845.

When they arrived, Sergeant parked about half a car length behind Rafael's Chevrolet. R.716-17, 734-35, 750-52. The Chevrolet had its hazard lights on and Sergeant's Toyota Tundra had its hazard lights and beams on. R.735-36, 750-52, 849-50. The vehicles were parked next to an open field and the area was dark with no superficial light in the immediate area. R.751-52, 849; Def. Ex. 1. It was still raining "pretty hard." R.848, 977.

Once they parked, Rafael exited the vehicle and moved to the bed of the truck on the passenger's side to retrieve his gas can. R.735-36, 755. About the same time that Rafael was exiting, a vehicle with its beams on quickly pulled in and came to a stop about 5-8 feet behind the rear bumper of Sergeant's Toyota

Tundra. R.736, 756, 837-39. Sergeant and Rafael believed this other vehicle was a white Jeep Cherokee. R.720, 776, 834-35, 861-62.

According to Rafael, the suspect driver then opened the door, and the vehicle's interior lights turned on. R.717. Rafael alleged that he recognized the driver as Martinez; he was "100% sure" of it. R.717-19. Rafael then returned to the passenger side of Sergeant's truck and nervously told Sergeant "that the person that had just got there wanted to kill [him]." R.717-18, 737-38, 757-59, 857. Rafael did not observe a weapon. R.737, 739. Sergeant told Rafael to "get in," and Rafael entered the Toyota Tundra on the passenger side. R.718, 737-39

Sergeant also observed the suspect driver. R.759-60. According to Sergeant, the suspect got out of the driver's seat and walked to the rear bumper of the Toyota Tundra on the driver's side. R.839-41. Through the Tundra's mirrors, Sergeant was able to observe the suspect holding a gun in his left hand. R.759-60, 836-37, 839-41, 862-64. The gun was silver and large and appeared to be a semiautomatic 1911 pistol. *Id.* Sergeant then observed the suspect move to the passenger's side of the Tundra and lost sight of him. R.759-61, 839. Neither Sergeant nor Rafael observed anyone other than the suspect driver. R.737-39, 838-39.

As soon as Rafael entered the Tundra, Sergeant drove away. R.719, 761-62. "[A]lmost instantaneously with [Sergeant] pulling away," R.761-62, "three shots in a row" were fired. R.719, 739, 761-62. Sergeant and Rafael described the shots as being "[f]airly rapid, close together," "one right after the other," and with no

distinction between any particular shot from the others. R.739, 844, 953.

Sergeant told Rafael to “get down,” and drove away “really fast.” R.719, 739. Sergeant and Rafael did not engage in much dialog about the incident other than Rafael telling Sergeant that “he knew the [suspect] individual, and that [the individual] had wanted to kill him.” R.762. Sergeant called 911 as they drove away. R.762-72.

Shortly after the shooting, Rafael and Sergeant observed and followed a white Jeep Cherokee that looked like the shooter’s vehicle. R.720-21, 730. The Cherokee was stopped, and the driver was identified as someone named Joseph. R.866-67, 1014-15. Though the descriptions of Joseph varied, it was generally agreed upon that Joseph was a 48-60 year old white man. R.730-31, 777-78; *compare* R.730-31 (Rafael describing Joseph as a white, 50-60 year old bald man, probably with no facial hair); *with* R.777-78 (Sergeant describing Joseph as a “scruffy[-] face[d],” 48-50 year old white male with longer hair that fell “a bit over ear length”). Joseph’s shorts and clothing appeared “disheveled” and he looked dirty. R.777-78. Rafael looked at Joseph and said he was not the shooter. R.778-79. After learning that Rafael did not make an identification, Sergeant looked at Joseph next. *Id.* Based on Joseph’s “general appearance,” Sergeant believed that Joseph could have been the gunman. R.777, 850-51. But Sergeant “wasn’t certain,” and developed doubts about Joseph’s identity as the suspect shooter. R.772-73, 778-79.

The Investigation. Rafael told police that he believed Martinez was the suspect. R.867. Police intended to show Rafael and Sergeant a photo array lineup of the suspects, but ultimately elected not to because both witnesses had already been shown a driver's license photo of Martinez. R.855-57, 860-61, 976-77, 1012-19; *but see* R.740-41 (Rafael testifying that he was 100% certain that police did not show him a photograph of Martinez). Police ultimately determined that Joseph was not involved in the shooting. R.867-69.

Sergeant and Rafael were subsequently interviewed. R.1015. During that interview, Sergeant and investigating officers discussed how it was “odd” that the shooter would know where to locate Rafael given the unexpected breakdown and “random[]” events that followed. R.853-54, 1016-17. There was also evidence that the officers were puzzled as to why a shooter intent on killing Rafael would wait until Rafael returned with Sergeant to the scene. *Id.* Also during the interview, Sergeant posited whether it was “possible [Rafael's ex-wife] put a hit on [Rafael].” R.836, 1017; *but see* R.729 (Rafael denying that Sergeant asked this question). Indeed, the jury heard evidence that Rafael was in the midst of a custody battle and had a court date scheduled on July 9, 2015—the morning immediately following the shooting. R.727-29, 976, 1017.

Police subsequently conducted an investigation of the crime scene, which revealed three spent 9mm shell casings (Ruger brand). R.870-71, 908-15; State's Exs. 4-5, 24-29, 59-61. They could not say whether the casings came from the same firearm because laboratory test results were still pending. R.972. Nor did

police test the casings for DNA or fingerprints. R.972-73.

Moreover, police discovered three bullet holes—Holes A, B, and C—on the passenger side of Sergeant’s Toyota Tundra. R.922; State’s Exs. 43-58. Hole A appeared on the front passenger quarter panel; Hole B appeared on the top corner of the passenger window; and Hole C appeared toward the center of the B pillar (the pillar between the front and back passenger windows). R.922-31, 941; State’s Exs. 35-56; Def. Ex.17.

The State presented evidence suggesting that Holes A and B were produced by bullets that impacted at shallower angles—between 1 and 5 degrees—while Hole C was produced by a bullet that struck at an angle of approximately 60 degrees. R.925-30, 951-53, 961; State’s Exs. 7-15, 56-58; Def. Ex. 17. The State alleged that, based on these trajectory estimations, the Hole C bullet would have traveled toward the passenger seat had it not been obstructed by the B pillar. R.941-42, 970.² Meanwhile, the defense elicited testimony that Hole C had no point of exit and was created by a bullet that was lodged in the B pillar about a half inch deep. R.957-59, 969, 971. The defense expert testified that the ability to determine trajectory is limited when only an entry hole is present. R.1042-43.

² Police investigators used a Faro laser scanner and accompanying software to take pictures, collect measurements, and produce 3D models of the crime scene. R.904-06, 910, 915-16, 931-32. Investigators also conducted a separate Faro scan of the Toyota Tundra with trajectory rods inserted in the bullet holes. R.933-36, 950, 959-61, 971; State’s Exs. 56-58; Def. Exs. 9, 11. The model of the Tundra and corresponding trajectories was layered over the model of the crime scene to create the 3D pictures in State’s Exhibits 7-17 and Defense Exhibits 12-14. R.933-38, 943-44.

Additional investigation led police to Martinez's neighbor ("Neighbor"), who had let Martinez borrow her white Mazda Tribute³ on the day of the shooting. R.877-78, 881-884; State's Exs. 30-34. Neighbor understood that Martinez needed the Mazda to visit his daughter. R.884, 888. However, Martinez did not return the Mazda, and police located the car the following day in West Valley. R.882, 885, 894-95. Police did not test the Mazda for gunshot residue, fingerprints, or DNA. R.979, 983-84.

Martinez was ultimately arrested in Los Angeles, California, on November 9th, 2015. R.868. The State did not present evidence as to whether police located the shooting weapon. *See* R.870-71.

c. Merger

At the close of the State's case, Martinez argued that the "three charges of felony discharge of [a] firearm should merge into the attempted murder and relatedly the aggravated assault charge." R.997-1007 (defense counsel citing subsection 76–1–402(1) and relevant case law, and arguing that the offenses arose from the "same act"); Addendum C (transcripts of pre-verdict merger motion and ruling). The trial court denied the motion, reasoning that the issue was more appropriately addressed post-verdict. R.1008-09. It left open the possibility of vacating the discharge counts as a result of their conversation. *Id.*

After Martinez was convicted, the defense renewed its motion and asked the court to vacate the felony discharge counts. R.336-46; Addendum D (post-

³ A Mazda Tribute is a compact SUV. *See* State's Exs. 30-34.

verdict motion to vacate). He argued that the counts merged under Utah Code § 76-1-402. R.338-40 (citing subsection 76-1-402(1) and relevant case law, and arguing that the offenses arose during “a single criminal episode”); R.340-45 (citing subsection 76-1-402(3) and relevant case law, and arguing for merger because the offenses shared a greater-lesser related relationship). As another basis for merger, Martinez pointed the trial court to *State v. Finlayson*, 2000 UT 10, 994 P.2d 1243, and *State v. Lee*, 2006 UT 5, ¶31, 128 P.3d 1179, and argued that merger was warranted because the crimes were “so closely related.” R.344-45.

After argument and briefing on the issue, the trial court denied Martinez’s motion to vacate, advancing several reasons. R.1210-12; Addendum E (transcript of argument and ruling on motion to vacate). First, it indicated that it viewed the merger question as a “sentencing issue and not a conviction issue.” R.1203-06, 1210-12. That is, it appeared to believe that Martinez would not be separately punished for felony discharge if the court ran the counts concurrent to each other and concurrent to the other offenses. *See id.*

Second, the trial court found that “factually, the evidence support[ed] that [discharging a firearm was] how the defendant attempted to ... kill the intended victim.” R.1211. But it did not believe discharge merged with attempted murder because “discharge of a firearm is not a necessary element in [] attempted homicide.” R.1211. Finally, the trial court concluded that “double jeopardy [was

not] implicated, because the defendant was tried at one time for all of the charges that arose out of the same criminal episode.” *Id.*

At sentencing, the trial court ran the possession of a firearm, attempted murder, and felony discharge counts concurrently. R.1248-55.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The trial court committed reversible error when it allowed Rafael to testify that “all the people from Tooele, [] were telling [him] that [Martinez] was looking for [him] ... to kill [him].” The out-of-court statements of these nontestifying Tooele residents were inadmissible because they violated the rule against hearsay. Not only did the relevance of the statements depend on their truth, but the statements included unnecessary specifics relating to Martinez’s guilt. The record shows that the statements were offered for their truth and, thus, constituted inadmissible hearsay. This Court should grant Martinez a new trial on all counts because the inadmissible hearsay went to critical issues at trial (identity and intent) and were prejudicial.

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