2016

State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Jeremy Bowden, Defendant/ Appellant : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

In a preserved claim, Defendant argues that insufficient evidence supported his attempted aggravated murder conviction because the evidence was too circumstantial to identify him as the person who shot Officer Tsouras. Defendant's claim fails. It is well-settled that circumstantial evidence alone is sufficient to establish guilt. And here, Defendant's identification was supported by, among other evidence, multiple witnesses' testimony that a person dressed the same or similarly to Defendant was the only person running from police and shot in Tsouras's direction, videos, that

that one of the bullets found in the truck Defendant stole was made by the same manufacture as one of the bullet casings found at the scene, and that Defendant was arrested with bloody hands, a bullet in his pocket, and close in time and proximity to the shooting scene.

In an unpreserved claim, Defendant argues that insufficient evidence supported his obstruction of justice conviction because, like his attempted aggravated murder conviction, the evidence was too circumstantial identify him as the person who discarded the gun used to shoot Tsouras. On this record, Defendant cannot show that the insufficiency was so obvious and fundamental that the trial court erred in submitting the case to the jury. Ample evidence supported that Defendant discarded the gun, including that the gun used to shoot Tsouras was found next to where Defendant jumped the retaining wall between the tire store and the Park Station Apartments.

Defendant argues under Utah R. Evid. 401, 402, 403, and 404 that the trial court erred when it did not exclude the Federal bullet found in his pocket. Rules 401, 402, 403, and 404 apply to extrinsic evidence – evidence of *other* bad acts. Here, the bullet was intrinsic to Defendant’s crimes, thus, Utah R. Evid. 401, 402, 403, and 404 do not apply. The trial court properly admitted the bullet where it was found on Defendant’s person, tied him to the stolen

truck, and was evidence of his access to and familiarity with guns and ammunition.

Point 2. Below, the trial court merged one of Defendant's five felony discharge of a firearm convictions with his attempted aggravated murder conviction. On appeal, Defendant argues that the trial court erred when it did not merge his remaining four felony discharge of a firearm convictions with his attempted aggravated murder conviction.

Defendant's claim fails because the aggravated murder statute explicitly prohibits merger of felony discharge of a firearm and aggravated murder. And Defendant's conviction for the attempt crime does not change that analysis where a conviction for attempted aggravated murder must satisfy the aggravated murder statute elements, except that the murder need not be completed.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE STATE PRODUCED AMPLE EVIDENCE TO LINK DEFENDANT TO THE SHOOTING OF A POLICE OFFICER AND CONCEALING THE EVIDENCE OF THE SHOOTING.

Defendant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support his attempted aggravated murder and obstruction of justice convictions. Br.Aplt.13-30. In a preserved claim, Defendant argues that insufficient evidence supported his attempted aggravated murder conviction because the evidence was too circumstantial to identify him as the person who shot Officer Tsouras. Br.Aplt.13-27. In an unpreserved claim, Defendant argues that insufficient evidence supported his obstruction of justice conviction because, like his attempted aggravated murder conviction, the evidence was too circumstantial to identify him as the person who discarded the gun used to shoot Tsouras. Br.Aplt.27-30. Defendant also argues that the trial court erroneously rejected his argument that evidence that police found the Federal brand bullet in his pocket was more prejudicial than probative. Br.Aplt.30-43.

But the evidence showed, among other things, that a person dressed the same or similarly to Defendant was the only person running from police and shot in Tsouras's direction. Police also found a 9mm bullet casing at the scene that was made by the same manufacture as one of the four 9mm bullets found in the truck Defendant had stolen. The truck owner had never owned

a 9mm gun. While the casings found at the scene were not from Federal brand bullets, there were Federal brand bullets in the truck. Finding a Federal brand bullet in Defendant's truck was further circumstantial evidence linking him to the truck where police found a 9mm bullet bearing the same marking as those used to shoot and shoot at Officer Tsouras.

A. Ample evidence supports Defendant's attempted aggravated murder conviction.³

When reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, this Court gives "substantial deference to the jury." *State v. Ashcraft*, 2015 UT 5, ¶18, 349 P.3d 664 (quotation and citation omitted). This Court "reviews the evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in a light most favorable to the verdict." *State v. Maestas*, 2012 UT 46, ¶177, 299 P.3d 892 (quotation and citation omitted). The existence of "contradictory evidence or of conflicting inferences does not warrant disturbing the jury's verdict." *State v. Howell*, 649 P.2d 91, 96 (Utah 1982). So reviewed, evidence will not support a jury verdict only when it "is sufficiently inconclusive or inherently improbable that reasonable minds must have entertained a reasonable doubt that the defendant committed the crime." *State v. Brown*, 948 P.2d 337, 343 (Utah 1997) (quotation and citation omitted). Thus, this Court must affirm if "some

³ This Point responds to Defendant's Point I. See Br.Aplt.13-30.

evidence exists from which a reasonable jury could find that the elements of the crime had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Maestas*, 2012 UT 46, ¶177 (citation omitted) (emphasis added).

It makes no difference whether the evidence is solely circumstantial. It is “well-settled” that circumstantial evidence alone is sufficient to establish guilt. *State v. MacNeill*, 2017 UT App 48, ¶57, 397 P.3d 626 (citation and quotation omitted). The State may present “a mosaic of circumstantial evidence that considered as a whole constitutes proof beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.* (quotation and citation omitted). “Circumstantial evidence may even be more convincing than direct testimony.” *State v. Housekeeper*, 588 P.2d 139, 140 (Utah 1978).

It is also “well-established” that identification can be proven from circumstantial evidence. *State v. Isom*, 2015 UT App 160, ¶23 n.2, 354 P.3d 791. A “direct, in-court identification, therefore, is not required.” *Id.* A “witness need not physically point out a defendant so long as the evidence is sufficient to permit the inference that the person on trial was the person who committed the crime.” *Id.* (quotations and citation omitted); *see also United States v. Smith*, 134 F.3d 384, *3, 1998 WL 33862, 98 CJ C.A.R. 548 (10th Cir. Jan. 29, 1998) (“[T]here is no requirement of an in-court identification when other evidence permits the inference that the defendant is the person who committed the

offense.”); *United States v. Weed*, 689 F.2d 752, 754 (7th Cir.1982) (“[I]dentification can be inferred from all the facts and circumstances that are in evidence.”).

Here, more than “*some evidence*” established that Defendant shot and shot at Officer Tsouras. *See Maestas*, 2012 UT 46, ¶177 (emphasis added). Multiple witnesses described and video recordings captured a single person wearing jeans, a dark jacket, bandana, red or maroon shirt, and white shoes; when he was arrested, Defendant was still wearing jeans, a red shirt, and white shoes. R797,855,867,941,973,1198-99,1210; SE12,147.

Defendant, who admits that he was at the business center, was first captured on the business center’s surveillance video wearing a bandana, leather jacket, red or maroon shirt, blue jeans, and white shoes. R1310; SE12. Clark, who saw Defendant at the business center, described Defendant as a white male, in his thirties, wearing blues jeans, a bandana, and a leather jacket. R855. The night manager described the person she saw as “taller,” with a “pointed nose,” “sharp looking ...wolf’s eyes,” wearing dark pants,” and a dark jacket—a description that matches Defendant’s facial features and clothing. R1195,1198-99; SE120. Tsouras and O’Gwin both described a person dressed the same or similarly to Defendant. Tsouras described the person he saw as wearing a “black jacket,” “blue jeans,” and “a beanie—skull cap—type

headgear.” R797. O’Gwin described the person he saw wearing blue jeans and a dark hoodie. R1210. And although O’Gwin’s dash cam did not capture Defendant’s face, it captured a person dressed like Defendant – wearing a dark jacket, blue jeans, and white shoes. SE147. Moreover, when Defendant was arrested, he was wearing a red or maroon t-shirt and blue jeans – exactly what he was wearing at the business center. R973; SE12.

The business center’s surveillance video and O’Gwin’s dash cam match the witnesses’ descriptions. The videos and Defendant’s post-arrest photo also show the same person. SE12,120,151-153. The witness descriptions are consistent and match what Defendant was wearing at different points in his crime spree. At the beginning of his crime spree, Defendant was wearing exactly what Clark, the night manager, Tsouras, and O’Gwin described and the business center and O’Gwin’s videos captured. At his arrest, Defendant was wearing the same red or maroon t-shirt, blue jeans, and white shoes that he wore at the business center, on O’Gwin’s dash cam video, and that the arresting officer described. Merely because Defendant started at the business center wearing a bandana, jacket, blue jeans, red or maroon shirt, and white shoes, but was arrested without the bandana or jacket, but still wearing blue jeans, a red or maroon shirt, and white shoes does not materially undermine the identification. It would have been reasonable for the jury to infer that

Defendant discarded his jacket and bandana as he ran. *See Ashcraft*, 2015 UT 5, ¶18 (reasonable inferences may be drawn from circumstantial evidence). As the arresting officer explained, when suspects run from the police they often discard items and items like hats are easily lost. R985.

The identification was also not materially undermined by Midgely's testimony that he "thought" the person he saw running from police was wearing a light-colored jacket, not a dark jacket like the other witnesses described. R952-53. *See Brown*, 948 P.2d at 343 (variation in witnesses testimony does not make it "sufficiently inconclusive" or "inherently improbable.") (quotation and citation omitted); *Howell*, 649 P.2d at 96 ("existence of contradictory evidence or of conflicting inferences does not warrant disturbing the jury's verdict") (quotation and citation omitted). As Midgely explained, he was not focused on what Defendant was wearing, but on what he was doing. R952-53. Midgely's vantage point and the lighting also explain the difference in his description—he was the furthest away and watching Defendant run at night through parking lots. R938-942; SE13 (taco bell across the street from shooting site),¹⁴⁵. And the remaining witnesses were materially consistent with each other.

O'Gwin's dash cam video also supports the identification of Defendant as the shooter. As stated, the dash cam did not capture Defendant's face. But

it did capture a person dressed in the same clothes that Defendant wore at the business center firing his gun in the direction that Tsouras retreated when Defendant started shooting. R804-05,1211-13,1221-23, SE12,142,147.

The bullet casings found at the scene and the ammunition found in truck Defendant had stolen also linked him to the crimes. Defendant admitted at trial that he was connected to the stolen truck. SE73. Indeed, Defendant's identification and Ipad were found inside. R1105; SE73,160. And the stolen truck connects Defendant to the shooting. One of the bullet casings found at the scene matched one of the four 9 mm bullets found in the stolen truck. R1147-48. The truck's owner testified that the 9 mm bullets were not his, and that he had never owned a 9 mm gun. R1130. The stolen truck also contained various calibers of Winchester ammunition—the other type of 9 mm ammunition used in the shooting. R110, SE173-175. And like the .45 caliber Federal bullet in Defendant's pocket, the stolen truck contained Federal bullets. R1112; SE175,176,179,186,189.

Additionally, Defendant's flight from police is evidence that he was the one who shot Tsouras. *State v. Franklin*, 735 P.2d 34, 38-39 (Utah 1987) (*overturned on other grounds by State v. Robertson*, 2017 UT 27); *State v. Bales*, 675 P.2d 573, 574 (Utah 1983). Defendant was the only person in the area running and the only person in the containment area that matched the

shooter's description. R795,940,1162-63,1195,1214; SE147. Defendant was arrested only twenty-two minutes after the shooting, in the containment area, near the shooting site, with bloodied hands and a bullet in his pocket. R980,1002,1160,1164; SE121,122.

Last, Defendant offered no innocent explanation for running from police or for the injuries to his hand. *Compare* SE12,151-153 *with* 120-122.

Thus, the evidence – the surveillance and dash cam videos, the witness testimony identifying a person wearing the same or similar clothing, that one of the 9 mm bullets at the scene was made by the same manufactureur as one of the four 9 mm bullets found in the truck Defendant stole, that Defendant was the only person in the area, Defendant's flight from police, Defendant's own admissions, and that Defendant was arrested with bloody hands, a bullet in his pocket, and close in time and proximity to the shooting scene – established that Defendant shot Tsouras.

Regardless, Defendant argues that the evidence was insufficient because there were some inconsistencies in the witnesses' testimony describing Defendant. Br.Aplt.22-27. Inconsistencies are not enough to disturb the jury's verdict – the inconsistencies must be improbable with no other circumstantial or direct evidence supporting the verdict. *State v. Prater*, 2017 UT 13, ¶¶32,42 392 P.3d 398. But Defendant's argument focuses only on

alleged inconsistencies and ignores the totality of the evidence supporting his identification. See *MacNeill*, 2017 UT App 48, ¶57 (To prove guilt, the State may present “a mosaic of circumstantial evidence.”). And as explained, ample evidence supports Defendant’s identification. Thus, Defendant’s claim fails.

B. The trial court did not plainly err by not sua sponte taking the obstruction of justice charge from the jury.

For the first time on appeal, Defendant challenges his obstruction of justice conviction, arguing that there was insufficient identification evidence to show that he discarded the gun. Br.Aplt.27-30. Defendant’s claim fails because he cannot show plain error – obvious, prejudicial error.

1. Defendant’s claim is unpreserved.

Defendant argues that his claim was preserved by his trial counsel’s directed verdict motion. Defendant is mistaken.

A party generally cannot raise an issue on appeal that it did not properly preserve in the trial court. *Oseguera v. State*, 2014 UT 31, ¶10, 332 P.3d 963. To preserve an issue for appeal, a party must present the issue in “the district court in such a way that the court has an opportunity to rule on [it].” *Id.* (quoting *Gressman v. State*, 2013 UT 63, ¶45, 323 P.3d 998). In other words, a party’s objection must be both timely and specific. See *id.* The specificity requirement prevents a party from raising an issue on one ground but

arguing another ground on appeal. *See id.* (party objecting “on one ground does not preserve any alternative grounds for objection for appeal”) (*quoting State v. Low*, 2008 UT 58, ¶17, 192 P.3d 867).

In his directed verdict motion, Defendant argued that “there’s not sufficient evidence for a reasonable jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt that [Defendant] is, in fact, the person that fired at the officer that day.” R1225. Defendant did not argue, as he does on appeal, that there was insufficient evidence to prove that he was the person who discarded the gun—the evidentiary basis for the obstruction charge. Br.Aplt.27-30. Defendant did not present this issue to the trial court, and the trial court did not have the opportunity to rule on it. *See Oseguera*, 2014 UT 31, ¶10. Defendant’s claim is thus unpreserved. *See id.*

2. Defendant has not shown—and cannot show—that the trial court should have taken the obstruction of justice charge from the jury on its own motion.

To prevail on a preserved insufficiency claim on appeal, Defendant must show that the “evidence...is sufficiently inconclusive” or “inherently improbable that reasonable minds must have entertained reasonable doubt.” *State v. Mead*, 2001 UT 58, ¶65, 27 P.3d 1115 (citations and quotations omitted). When, as here, Defendant’s claim is unpreserved, Defendant’s burden is even higher. Defendant must also show that the “insufficiency was so obvious and

fundamental that the trial court erred in submitting the case to the jury.” *State v. Holgate*, 2000 UT 74, ¶17, 10 P.3d 346.

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